ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 Whether the trial prosecutor violated Mr. Coleman's Fifth Amendment privilege against 

self-incrimination when she commented in closing argument on Mr. Coleman's decision 

not to testify? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel failed to provide Mr. Coleman with effective assistance of 

counsel when he failed to object to the prosecutor's improper comments during 

closing argument? 

b. 	 Whether appellate counsel was ineffective when he failed to brief or argue the 

prosecutor's improper comments during closing argument? 

2. 	 Whether the jury instruction on the presumption concerning use of a firearm, and the 

State's argument concerning such presumption, unconstitutionally shifted the burden of 

proof to Mr. Coleman? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the firearm 

presumption jury instruction and in failing to object to the State's improper 

recitation of the presumption instruction in closing argument? 

3. 	 Whether Mr. Coleman's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights were violated when his 

interview with and other information gathered by the State's psychiatric expert was 

admitted into evidence without adherence to the protections outlined in State v. Jackson? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request any of the protections, 

as to the State's independent psychiatric evaluation of Mr. Coleman, offered by 

State v. Jackson? 
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4. 	 Whether the trial court committed structural constitutional error when it allowed Mr. 

Coleman's trial to proceed in the absence of an elected or acting prosecuting attorney? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a mistrial or in failing to 

consult with Mr. Coleman on the issue of the absence of an elected or acting 

prosecuting attorney? 

5. 	 Whether Mr. Coleman's due process rights were violated when voluminous, prejudicial, 

404b evidence was entered without the protection of a pre-trial. omnibus, State v. 

McGinnis hearing? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a McGinnis hearing on 

the 404b evidence prior to the trial? 

b. 	 Whether appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to brief and argue the issue 

regarding the procedure of admitting and the admission of the 404b evidence? 

6. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective where exculpatory evidence regarding the autopsy 

photos, that was previously disclosed by the State, was discovered during the trial and 

would have been discovered prior to the trial by reasonable investigation? 

a. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to request additional time to 

be able to effectively use the exculpatory evidence that was disclosed during the 

trial? 

7. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the State's medical 

examiner expert testifying as to an area outside of his expertise-- the toxicology testing 

and results? 

8. 	 Whether trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to testimony regarding Mr. 
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Coleman's pre-trial incarceration? 

9. 	 Whether all of the errors of trial counsel were cumulatively prejudicial? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal of the Kanawha County Circuit Court's denial of Mark Coleman's 

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Subjiciendum Under W. Va. Code § 53-4A-I (hereinafter 

''habeas petition"). Mr. Coleman is currently serving a life with mercy sentence after having 

been found guilty of first degree murder. 

On March 2,2006, a rifle held in Mr. Coleman's hands discharged and resulted in the 

death of his wife, Trina Coleman. The proceeding jury trial on the charge of fIrst degree murder 

would be focused on the issue of Mr. Coleman's intent. James Cagle, Mr. Coleman's trial 

attorney, would argue that the discharge of the fIrearm was accidental and that Mr. Coleman was 

suffering from diminished capacity at the time of the killing due to methamphetamine psychosis. 

The State would argue that the discharge was not an accident, that Mr. Coleman shot his wife 

with malicious, premeditated, and deliberate intent to kill, and that even though their expert 

agreed that Mr. Coleman was suffering from methamphetamine psychosis, such mental condition 

did not rise to the level that he was not able to form specifIc intent. Ultimately, the jury found 

him guilty of fIrst degree murder with a recommendation of mercy. 

1. PRE-TRIAL 

In May of 2006, a Kanawha County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Coleman on one count of 

first degree murder. App. Vol. m, p. 1. The Kanawha County Circuit Court denied setting bond 

for Mr. Coleman. App. Vol. n, p. 880. 

There was no pretrial issues taken up at any pretrial hearing except for the issue of bond, 
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a motion to continue the original trial date, and the State's motion for an evaluation of a child 

witness and to take handwriting and blood samples. App. Vol. n, p. 880. 

On November 1,2006, trial counsel disclosed a report of Dr. Thomas V. Martin, which 

found that Mr. Coleman was suffering from a diminished capacity at the time of the shooting as 

the result of methamphetamine intoxication and psychosis. App. Vol. ill, p. 138. 

On February 6,2007, the State had Dr. Ralph S. Smith conduct an independent 

psychiatric evaluation of Mr. Coleman. App. VoL ill, p. 147. Dr. Smith found that even though 

he agreed that Mr. Coleman was suffering from methamphetamine intoxication and psychosis, 

this did not render him unable to form the specific intent to shoot his wife. App. Vol. ill, p. 162. 

n. TRIAL 

On February 26, 2007, jury selection commenced in Mr. Coleman's first degree murder 

trial. App. Vol. I, p. 15. The case would not be submitted to the jury until March 6, 2007, App. 

Vol. II, p. 860, and the jury deliberated over the course of three days, returning their verdict on 

March 8, 2007. App. Vol. n. p. 866. 

On March 2, 2007, the fifth day of trial, the circuit court informed the parties that the 

elected prosecutor for Kanawha County had resigned. App. VoL n. p. 528. The circuit court 

directed trial counsel to talk to Mr. Coleman about the issue over the lunch break. App. Vol. n, 

p.530. After the lunch break, trial counsel indicated that he had not discussed the issue with Mr. 

Coleman, App. Vol. II, p. 629, but that he was not going to make a motion to continue or for a 

mistrial and that Mr. Coleman would listen to whatever trial counsel said. App. Vol. n, pp. 629

30. 

During the trial, the State sought to introduce numerous letters written by both Mr. 
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Coleman and Mrs. Coleman, voluminous audio tapes, and testimony of witnesses that would be 

properly characterized as 404(b) evidence. App. Vol. L pp. 5-9. The circuit court did not hold a 

hearing on the admissibility of this evidence prior to trial. Instead, during the testimony of each 

witness and prior to the introduction of certain testimony that the State characterized as 404(b), 

the court would address the issue at side bar. See, e.g., App. Vol. L pp. 360-61. After this ad hoc 

procedure was applied numerous times, trial counsel did lodge an objection: 

Cagle: You know, Judge, those 404(b) cases indicate that you need to sometimes conduct 

a hearing to determine-


Court: That's what we're doing here. 


Cagle: You know, just anybody standing up and saying something? You know. 


Court: That's what we're doing here. 


Cagle: It is not a preponderance because the Prosecutor is willing to say it, or even that 

somebody will be put on the stand and say it, doesn't make it- doesn't meet the test of 

whether it happened by the standard of a preponderance of the evidence. Otherwise, 

anybody can come in and say anything, which I submit in this case in particular that's 

exactly what's going on .... 


Court: Your objection is on the record .... 

App. Vol. I, pp. 360-61. While trial counsel lodged objections to some of the testimony, he did 

not object to the admission of hundreds of pages of letters and many hours of audio tapes being 

entered into evidence. App. Vol. n, pp. 638, 788-89. Many of the letters that were introduced 

into evidence were sexually-explicit and vulgar and contained references to Mr. Coleman's 

sexual relations with other men, Mr. Coleman and Mrs. Coleman's open marriage, Mrs. 

Coleman's sexual relations with other men, and Mr. Coleman's 'cuckold' fantasy. App. Vol. m. 
pp. 49-130. The audio tapes, which were sent back to the jury room with a tape recorder to play 
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them on, App. Vol. III, p. 791, also contained sexually-explicit and graphic content. App. Vol. 

ill, pp. 46-48. 

The State also presented the expert testimony of the Dr. lourl Boiko, the Deputy Chief 

Medical Examiner, who perfonned the autopsy of Trina Coleman. App. Vol. ill, p. 131. During 

the course of his testimony and an examination of the autopsy photographs, Dr. Boiko became 

aware that there was an error in his report which found that there was no soot or stippling on 

Mrs. Coleman's body or clothes. 

When the prosecutor asked ifDr. Boiko could detennine how far muzzle was from Mrs. 

Coleman's hand when gun discharged, he answered: 

No, not exactly. To determine close range gunshot wound, you have to see soot on the 
fInger. And I don't see- Well, it is soot here. It is soot here. So distance from the finger 
by itself was very close, three inches approximately. Because on the left finger, you can 
see black soot deposition, the soot from the powder of the gunshot powder. 

App. Vol. n, p. 435. 

Dr. Boiko further testified that this opinion was different from his report: 

A. 	 Yes. This left finger injured by bullet, and around this wound you can see black 
soot deposition, which means that it was close range gunshot wound. 

Q. 	 Okay. Let me ask you this. Let me have you take a look at your report, if you 
would, just so that we're clear. I want to know if your report ... mentions ... your 
observations about. .. possibly soot deposits on the left finger, and if there is any 
difference in your report, can you explain that to us. 

A. 	 Yes. In my report, it says that the tip of the fmger with fmgemail is almost 
amputated and connected to the finger just by skin fragment on ulnar surface of 
the finger. No soot deposition, searing or stippling is noted on wound margins. 
It's inconsistency. And I don't know how it happened. On picture, it's visible 
that it's soot deposition. 

Q. 	 So you think there may have been a typographical error in the report? 
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A. 	 I think so. My main attention was to the major injury of the face. And it was 
inconsistency. I apologize. 

App. Vol. n, p. 437. 

Trial counsel did not move for a mistrial or a continuance based on this testimony, nor 

did he consult with Mr. Coleman regarding this development. App. Vol. ill, p. 523. On cross, 

Dr. Boiko admitted that the soot and stippling would be consistent with Mrs. Coleman swatting 

at the muzzle of the rifle. App. Vol. II, p. 445. 

Dr. Boiko also offered testimony that no controlled substances were found in the blood of 

Mrs. Coleman. App. Vol. II, p. 434. However, Dr. Boiko did not perform the toxicology testing, 

which was performed by James C. Kraner, Chief Toxicoiogist. App. Vol. II, pp. 444-45, VoL ill, 

p. 137. Dr. Boiko further testified that he could not answer trial counsel's questions on cross 

regarding whether the testing was performed on after-transfusion blood and that trial counsel 

would need to ask the toxicologist. App. Vol. II, pp. 446-47. Trial counsel did not object to Dr. 

Boiko testifying as to the toxicology results performed by Dr. Kraner. 

Following the testimony of Dr. Boiko and before trial counsel was to call his firearm 

expert, trial counsel made an amendment on the record as to his expert disclosure for his fireann 

expert based upon this new disclosure by Dr. Boiko of soot and stippling on Mrs. Coleman's 

finger. App. Vol. n, p. 642. In response to the court's questioning, trial counsel responded: 

Court: You talking about the medical examiner's report not mentioning soot on the 
finger? 


Cagle: That's right. In fact, it said the contrary. We had looked at that issue because we 

thought that may well have been what happened, as an explanation of why it was fired, 

but we couldn't put it together because the medical examiner said there is no soot 

stippling anywhere found. But now he said differently. 
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App. VoL IT. p. 643. 

During the testimony of his firearm expert, Les Roane, trial counsel entered into evidence 

a video that the expert made regarding the testing of the fIrearm, which was made prior to the 

information learned from Dr. Boiko's trial testimony. App. Vol. n, p. 747. Mr. Roane testified 

on direct examination that this was the fIrst time that he had seen the autopsy photos and that the 

soot and stippling would have been obvious if he had seen the autopsy photos prior. App. Vol. 

II, p. 757. 

Trial counsel also called Dr. Martin as a witness, and Dr. Martin offered testimony 

consistent with his psychiatric report. App. Vol. II, p. 689. During Dr. Martin's testimony, trial 

counsel moved for the admission of Dr. Martin's report. App. Vol. II, pp. 703-704. The State 

objected to the admission of the report, but the trial court allowed its admission, holding that it 

would find the report of the State's psychiatric expert to also be admissible. App. Vol. II, p. 704. 

The State indicated that it had not been planning to introduce the report of its psychiatric expert. 

App. Vol. II, p. 704. 

Mr. Coleman exercised his right to not testify at trial. App. Vol. II, p. 780. 

On rebuttal, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Smith, App. Vol. II, p. 793, and 

moved the introduction of Dr. Smith's report. App. Vol. II, p. 802. Prior to Dr. Smith's 

testimony, the court asked the prosecutor whether she had Dr. Smith's report ready to introduce. 

App. Vol. II, p. 785. Trial counsel objected to the introduction of the report and requested that 

the portion of the report entitled "additional data" on pages 10, 11, 12, and 13 be redacted 

because it contained inadmissible hearsay. App. Vol. IT, pp. 802-03. The court overruled the 

objection and allowed the report's admission based upon Dr. Smith's reliance on the report in 
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formulating his opinion. App. Vol. II, p. 804. Trial counsel then requested a limiting instruction 

on the report, which was denied by the trial court. App. Vol. IT, p. 804. 

During the course of the trial, there were numerous references to Mr. Coleman's pretrial 

incarceration. Both the defense's and the State's psychiatric experts made numerous references to 

Mr. Coleman's pretrial incarceration, App. Vol. m, p. 138, including statements regarding Mr. 

Coleman being "shackled" during an interview with the State's expert. App. Vol. III, p. 150. 

The court gave the following instruction to the jury regarding the inference that could be 

drawn from the use of a firearm, "Intent, willfulness, deliberation and malice may be inferred 

from the intentional use of a deadly weapon under circumstances where the defendant does not 

have excuse, justification, or provocation for his conduct." App. Vol. II, p. 831. During closing 

argument, the prosecutor commented on this instruction as follows: ''Ladies and gentleman-and I 

submit to you that you do not even cock the hammer of a gun, especially one that contains 

hollow-point bullets, unless you intend to fire it. And the Judge has told you that the use of a 

firearm. can be construed as evidence that he intended to:fire the gun." App. Vol. II, p. 843. Trial 

counsel did not object to either the instruction or the prosecutor's comment. 

Also during the closing argument, the prosecutor made the following comments to the 

jury: 

The medical examiner told you that she had her left hand in front of her face. A defensive 
wound. And that she was trying to defend herself by putting her hand in front of her face. 
It is not an accident because he did not tell you that she was attempting to defend herself. 
His explanation does not fit the physical facts of this case. 

App. Vol. II, p. 842. 

Every theory that they have put forward to their experts of how the gun discharged 
requires you to go through an exercise of coincidences, which, I submit to you, are 
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unworthy of your consideration. Because he has never described to a single individual 
that he pulled the trigger. He says he may have. "Maybe I did. II He also says, "I didn't do 
it. I never did it. II A series of inconsistent statements .... 

This defendant did not tell the police that he was attempting to render the gun safe by 
lowering the hammer and squeezing the trigger. This defendant did not teU you that he 
was attempting to render the gun safely when Trina Coleman was attempting to push the 
gun away. 

App. Vol. II, p. 856. 

Again, trial counsel did not object to this argument. 

m. DIRECT APPEAL 

Following the trial, Mr. Coleman discharged Mr. Cagle and hired new counsel, Troy 

Giatras, to file a direct appeal of his conviction. Despite Mr. Coleman's trial lasting seven days, 

appellate counsel only raised a single issue on appeal- sufficiency of evidence. App. Vol. III, p. 

163. This Court refused to hear the case on appeal. App. Vol. III, p. 187. 

N. HABEAS PROCEEDINGS 

On November 11,2014, undersigned counsel filed the habeas corpus petition that is the 

subject of the instant appeal. App. Vol. III, p. 188. The State med its response on February 27, 

2015. App. Vol. ill, p. 250. 

The matter fIrst came on for an omnibus hearing on April 14, 2016. App. Vol. ill, p. 369. 

At the fIrst omnibus hearing, Mr. Coleman called Harry Smith as an expert in the standard of 

reasonable care in criminal defense cases. App. Vol. III, p. 374. The Respondent called Mr. 

Cagle and Mr. Giatras as witnesses. App. Vol. ill, pp. 427, 469. 

A second evidentiary hearing was held on August 25,2016, with a continuation of the 

cross-examination of Mr. Giatras, App. Vol. ill, p. 496, and the testimony of Mark Coleman. 
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App. Vol. m. p. 516. 

Following the evidentiary hearing, the parties submitted proposed orders. App. Vol. III, 

pp. 542, 586. On May 26, 2017. the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Coleman's habeas 

petition. App. Vol. ill, p. 640. This appeal now follows. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

Mr. Coleman argues that numerous errors of a constitutional dimension rendered his jury 

trial unfair, requiring that this Court reverse the circuit court's ruling and grant the habeas 

petition. Mr. Coleman argues that the numerous errors committed by his trial counsel constituted 

ineffective assistance and prejudiced the outcome of his trial. 

First, Mr. Coleman argues that the prosecutor's statements during closing argument 

impermissibly and prejudicially commented on Mr. Coleman's invocation of his right to not 

testify. The prosecutor directed the jury to the fact that Mr. Coleman did not tell ''you,'' to mean 

the jury, that the shooting was accidental. Mr. Coleman suggests that such comments were much 

more egregious than comments in previous cases that this COll;rt have found to be erroneous and 

justifying reversals of convictions. Mr. Coleman further suggests that such comments 

constituted plain error as they clearly infringed on his fundamental Fifth Amendment privilege to 

not testify. Mr. Coleman argues that trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to 

these comments and that there is no strategic reason that is possible for not protecting his client's 

fundamental constitutional right. Further, Mr. Coleman argues that but for trial counsel's 

defective performance in failing to protect his fundamental constitutional right by objecting to 

the comments, the result of the trial would have been different. Mr. Coleman also argues that his 

appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise this issue on direct appeal under the plain 
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error doctrine. 

Second. Mr. Coleman argues that the jury instruction given to the jury concerning the 

inference that may be drawn from the fact that a fIrearm was discharged along with the 

prosecutor's clearly erroneous statement in closing regarding this inference impermissibly shifted 

the burden of proof to Mr. Coleman to prove that the shooting was accidental and not intentional. 

Mr. Coleman argues that the jury instruction read by the court did not make clear that the State 

had to prove the absence of excuse or justifIcation beyond a reasonable doubt before the jury 

could draw an inference that because the fIrearm was discharged that Mr. Coleman intended to 

kill and acted with malice. Mr. Coleman further argues that the jury instruction impermissibly 

allowed the jury to make an inference as to premeditation and deliberation besides intent to kill 

and malice. Mr. Coleman argues that where there was evidence submitted to the jury that the 

shooting was accidental and that Mr. Coleman was suffering from diminished capacity as a result 

of methamphetamine psychosis, the instruction was erroneously given. 

Mr. Coleman further argues that the burden shifting of the instruction was exacerbated by 

the statement made by the prosecutor in closing that the jury could infer intent to shoot the gun

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