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

ARGUMENT 

The Standard of Review 

The standard for this COUlt's review of a circuit court's habeas decision is set forth in 

Syllabus Point 1 of Mathena v. Haines, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006): 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a 
habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the 
final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the 
underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of 
law are subject to a de novo review. 

The Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Standard 

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in West Virginia are governed by the 

federal standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington: 

In the West Virginia courts, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are 
to be governed by the two-pronged test established in StricJdand v. Washington, 
466 u.s. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052,80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984): (1) Counsel's perfonnance 
was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a 
reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result ofthe 
proceedings would have been different. 

SyI. Pt. 5, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). 
This Court has further explained: 
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In reviewing counsel's performance, courts must apply an objective standard and 
determine whether, in light ofall the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions 
were outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance while at the 
same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second-guessing of trial 
counsel's strategic decisions. Thus, a reviewing court asks whether a reasonable 
lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the 
case at issue. 

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (l995). 

As this Court has explained, 

Under these rules and presumptions, the cases in which a defendant may 
prevail on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel are few and far between 
one another. This result is no accident, but instead flows from deliberate policy 
decisions this Court and the United States Supreme Court have made mandating 
that "Oludicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential" and 
prohibiting "[i]ntensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable 
assistance[.]" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90, 104 S. Ct. at 206S-{)6, 80 L.Ed.2d at 
694-95. 

Miller, 194 W. Va. at 16, 459 S.E.2d at 127. "In other words, we always should presume strongly 

that counsel's perfonnance was reasonable and adequate." Id., 459 S.E.2d at 127. Thus, 

The test of ineffectiveness has little or nothing to do with what the best lawyers 
would have done. Nor is the test even what most good lawyers would have done. 
We only ask whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the 
circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the case at issue. We are not interested 
in grading lawyers' performances; we are interested in whether the adversarial 
process at the time, in fact, worked adequately. 

ld., 459 S.E.2d at 127. 

The right to effective assistance of counsel includes the right to the effective assistance of 

appellate counsel in first appeals as of right. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985). The 

Strickland test applies to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Smith v. Robbins, 

528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000). However, defense appellate counsel is under no constitutional duty to 

raise all non-frivolous issues in an appeal and may exercise professional judgment in determining 

issues to pursue on appeal. Jones v. Ban!es, 463 U.S. 745, 752-53 (1983). Further, "[i]t is well
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established that the failure to raise unpreserved issues does not constitute ineffective assistance of 


appellate counsel." Carrl'. Bezio, No. 1:12-CV-00277 MAT, 2015 WL6872339, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. 


Nov. 9,2015). 


The Plain Error Standard 


''To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient 

distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature ofthe claimed defect. The rule in West Virginia 

is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they 

will likely be bound forever to hold their peace." State ex rei. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 

208,216,470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996). This Court has recognized a narrow ex.ception to this raise 

or waive rule, plain error. See State v. Craft, 200 W. Va. 496, 502,490 S.E.2d 315, 321 (1997) 

''To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) 

that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation 

of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 7, 459 S.E.2d 114, 118 

(1995). "To be 'plain,' the error must be 'clear' or 'obvious.'" Syl. Pt. 8, in part, State v. Miller, 

194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). "Assuming that an erroris 'plain,' the inquiry must proceed 

to its last step and a determination made as to whether it affects the substantial rights of the 

defendant. To affect substantial rights means the error was prejUdicial. It must have affected the 

outcome ofthe proceedings in the circuit court, and the defendant rather than the prosecutor bears 

the burden ofpersuasion with respect to prejudice." Syl. Pt. 9, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 

S.E.2d 114 (1995). "The plain error doctrine is to be used sparingly.'; State v. Fleming, 237 W. Va. 

44,55, 784 S.E.2d 743, 754 (2016). "A party who aspires to demonstrate plain error faces a steep 

uphill climb[.]" United States v. Jimenez, 512 F.3d 1,3 {lst Cir. 2007). 

A. Petitioner's claims of error in closing argument relating to his decision not to testify. 
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1. The trial prosecutor did not violate Petitioner's Fifth Amendment privilege against self

incrimination when she commented in closing argument on Petitioner's decision not to testify. 

a. Trial counsel was not ineffective in not objecting to the prosecutor's comments during 

closing argument. 

b. Appellate counsel was not ineffective when he failed to brief or argue the prosecutor's 

improper comments during closing argument. 

In his first assignment of error, Petitioner "argues that his constitutional rights were violated 

when the State commented in closing on his failure to testify, that his trial counsel was ineffective 

when he failed to object to the State's closing argument, and that his appellate counsel was 

ineffective in failing to include this issue in the direct appeal." Pet'r Br. at 17. 

Petitioner cites to two portions ofthe State's closing and rebuttal closing to support his claims. 

Petitioner first cites to the States closing where the APA told the jury, 

The medical examiner told you that she had her left hand in front ofher face. A 
defensive wound. And that she was trying to defend herself by putting her hand in 
front of her face. It is not an accident because he did not tell you that she was 
attempting to defend herself His explanation does not fit the physical facts of this 
case. 

A.R. Vol. II, 842. Petitioner then cites to the State's rebuttal closing argument: 

Every theory that they have put forward to their experts ofhow the gun discharged 
requires you to go through an exercise ofcoincidences, which, I submit to you, are 
unworthy of your consideration. Because he has never described to a single 
individual that he pulled the trigger. He says he may have. "Maybe I did." He also 
says, "1 didn't do it. I never did it." A series of inconsistent statements .... 

This defendant did not tell the police that he was attempting to render the gun safe 
by lowering the hammer and squeezing the trigger. This defendant did not tell you 
that he was attempting to render the gun safely when Trina Coleman was attempting 
to push the gun away. 

A.R. Vol. II, 856. 
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A defendant has a constitutional and statutory right not to testify and a corresponding 

constitutional and statutory right to not have the State comment on the defendant remaining silent. 

See, e.g., State v. Murray, 220 W. Va. 735, 739, 649 S.E.2d 509, 513 (2007). As found by the 

habeas court, the State's comments were "regrettable" and were not to be approved of. A.R. Vol. 

III, 687. However, the question before the habeas court was whether trial counsel was ineffective 

in not objecting and appellate counsel was ineffective in not raising the issue as a plain error claim 

on direct appeal. A.R. Vol. ill, 687. The habeas court correctly found Petitioner did not mete out 

a claim ofineffective assistance of counsel. 

As the habeas court found, although Petitioner's expert witness opined he could not see a 

strategic reason not to object, trial counsel (Mr. Cagle) proffered what the habeas court considered 

a "sound" strategic reason not to object, that an objection risked calling the jury's attention to the 

objectionable material. AR. Vol. III, 687. Mr. Cagle did not fall below an objective standard of 

professional competency. 

Moreover, the court instructed the jury, 

Nothing said or done by the attorneys who have tried this case is to be 
considered by you as evidence of any fact. The opening statements that you heard 
last week, and the final arguments that you're going to hear here in a few moments, 
are intended to help you in understanding the evidence and applying the law to the 
evidence but they are not themselves evidence. And accordingly, if any arguments, 
statements or remark of any of the lawyers is not based upon the evidence or the 
law as stated in myinstructions, then you should disregard that statement, argument 
or remark. 

AR. Vol. II, 822. The circuit court then further instructed the jury, "[t]he defendant, Mark Thomas 

Coleman, has no duty to take the stand as a witness in his own behalf. And if he does not do so, 

this is not evidence, and you should draw no inference therefrom as to his guilt or innocence. You 

should entirely disregard and not discuss ie' AR. Vol. II, 826-27. Given the "'the almost 

invariable assumption ofthe law that jurors follow their instructions[,] '" Shannon v. United States, 
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512 U.S. 573, 585 (1994) (quoting Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987)), it cannot be 

said that the absence of an objection here demonstrated CIa reasonable probability that, but for 

counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." Syl. Pt. 

5, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). 

Moreover, in light of the above instructions to the jury, it cannot be said appellate counsel 

either fell below an objective standard of professional competence in raising the issue as plain 

error, or that ifthe issue would have been raised it could be said that the outcome of a p1ain error 

appeal would have resulted in the reversal of Petitioner's conviction. See State v. Grubbs, 178 

W.Va 811, 818, 364 S.E.2d 824, 832 (1987) ("the doctrine of plain error with regard to 

objectionable closing remarks is sparingly applied."). 

The decision of the habeas court denying Petitioner relief should be affirmed. 

B. Petitioner's instructional error claims. 

1. The jury instruction on the presumption concerning use ofafirearm; and the State's 

argument concerning such presumption did not unconstitutionally shifted the burden ofproofto 

Petitioner. 

a. Trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to the firearm jury instruction 

and infailing to object to the State's recitation ofthe instruction in closing argument. 

Petitioner "argues that the jury instruction regarding the inference from the use ofa firearm 

along with the prosecutor's comment about the inference during closing impermissibly and 

unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof on the issue of accident and intentionality of the 

shooting to Mr. Coleman and that trial counsel's failure to address these issues was ineffective 

assistance." Pet'r Br. at 28. 
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Petitioner finds fault with the following instruction given at Petitioner's trial, "[i]ntent, 

willfulness, deliberation, and malice may be inferred from the intentional use of a deadly weapon 

under circumstances where the defendant does not have excuse, justification, or provocation for 

his conduct." A.R. Vol. II, 831. The instruction is not infirm. 

A case dispositive of the issue raised by Petitioner in regard to the instruction is SUzte ex 

reI. Bailey v. Legursky, 200 W. Va. 769,490 S.E.2d 858 (1997). In Bailey, Bailey shot and killed 

the victim, Dan Holcomb, as the result of an altercation between the two at Holcomb's residence. 

ld. at 771, 490 S.E.2d at 860. The altercation arose because of a romantic relationship between 

Bailey and Holcomb's wife, Kathy Holcomb. ld., 490 S.E.2d at 860. In the habeas, Bailey 

challenged the propriety of the following jury instruction, "[t]he Court instructs the jury that 

malice, wilfulness, and deliberation, which are elements of the crime of first degree murder, may 

be inferred from the intentional use of a deadly weapon in the commission of said offense[.]" ld. 

at 772 n.l, 490 S.E.2d at 861 n.l. Bailey claimed this instruction should have been tempered by 

language to the effect the claims to have been under the influence ofalcohol and drugs at the time 

of the shooting. ld., 490 S.E.2d 861 nJ. The Court in Bailey specifically cited to syllabus point 6 

of State v. Jenkins, 191 W.Va. 87,443 S.E.2d 244 (1994) that "'[i]t is erroneous in a first degree 

murder case to instruct the jury that ifthe defendant killed the deceased with the use of a deadly 

weapon, then intent, malice, willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation may be inferred from that 

fact, where there is evidence that the defendant's actions were based on some legal excuse, 

justification, or provocation. '" ld., 490 S.E.2d 861 n.1 (emphasis in original inBailey). This Court 

concluded that the instruction was not erroneous as it was being singled out and not read in light 

of the remaining instructions. 

Nevertheless, considering State's instruction no. 5, which stated that "[t]he 
Court instructs the jury that malice, wilfulness, and deliberation, which are 
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elements of the crime of first degree murder, may be inferred from the intentional 
use ofa deadly weapon in the commission ofsaid offense," the circuit court during 
the habeas proceeding, referring to other jury instructions, found that the jury was 
''properly and fully instructed on his 'diminished capacity' defense as excuse or 
justification for commission of the act." 

In particular, State's instruction no. 6, given at trial, allowed the jury to 
consider the appellant's evidence ofintoxication in connection with the evidence of 
the State. As this Court held in syllabus point 6 of State v. Milam, 159 W . Va. 691, 
226 S.E.2d 433 (1976): "When instructions are read as a whole and adequately 
advise the jury ofall necessary elements for their consideration, the fact that a single 
instruction is incomplete or lacks a particular element will not constitute grounds 
for disturbing a jury verdict." 

Bailey, 200 W. Va. at 772 nJ, 490 S.E.2d at 861 n.1. 

The habeas court found in this case that "it is axiomatic that j ury instructions must be taken 

as a whole." A.R. Vol. III, 683. Thus, the habeas court concluded, "the jury instruction, as given, 

particularly when read in the context ofthe instructions as a whole, was not erroneous." A.R. Vol. 

III, 683. The habeas court was correct. 

In Petitioner's case, the circuit court instructed the jury that "[t]he burden is always upon 

the prosecution to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden never shifts to the defendant 

in a criminal case, nor does the defendant ever have the burden or duty of calling witnesses or 

producing any evidence." A.R. Vol. II, 828. The circuit court also gave a voluntary intoxication 

defense instruction: 

Now, although voluntary intoxication will never provide a legal excuse for 
the commission ofa crime, the fact that a person may have been grossly intoxicated 
at the time of the commission of a crime may negate the existence of the specific 
intent of premeditation and deliberation, which is an element of the offense of 
murder in the first degree. So, the evidence that a defendant acted while in a state 
ofgross intoxication is to be considered in determining whether or not the defendant 
acted with specific intent and deliberation. 

A.R. Vol. II, 836. 
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The instructions in Petitioner's case were-when read as a whole----proper and counsel is 

not ineffective for failing to object to proper instructions. "It is axiomatic that counsel is not 

ineffective for failing to object ... to proper jury instructions." United States v. Winfield, No. 

CIV.A. 2:--CV386, 2000 WL 34342565, at *4 (B.D. Va. Mar. 17,2900). 

Further, Petitioner faults his trial counsel for failing to object to the following statement 

made by the AP A in her closing relating to the firearm inference instruction, "Ladies and 

gentlemen-and I submit to you that you do not even cock the hammer of a gun, especially one 

that contains hollow-point bullets, unless you intend to fire it. And the judge has told you that the 

use ofthe firearm can be construed as evidence that he intended to fire the gun." A.R. Vol. II, 843:

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